Pleading Prohibited Practices: Clarifying the Pleading Standard for Prohibited Transactions Complaints Under ERISA § 406

Nathan Hensley†

Contents

INTRODUCTION	1
I. FIDUCIARY DUTIES, PROHIBITED TRANSACTIONS, AND EXEMPTIONS UNDER ERISA	4
II. THE CIRCUIT DISAGREEMENT	5
A. Expansive Readings of § 406: The Eighth and Ninth Circuits	6
B. Curbing § 406's Scope: The Second, Third, Seventh, and Tenth Circuits	11
III. ANSWERING THE CIRCUIT DISAGREEMENT	16
A. Defending § 406's Broad Sweep	16
B. Section 408 Is an Affirmative Defense	19
C. Squaring § 408 As an Affirmative Defense with the Modern Pleading Standard	28
CONCLUSION	32

INTRODUCTION

Fittingly, the United States' seminal law regulating employee benefits, the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974¹ (ERISA), became law on Labor Day fifty years ago.² This new regulation of employee benefits represented a "decade of congressional study of the Nation's private employee benefit system."³ Such a lengthy study produced no small product. ERISA is an "enormously complex and detailed statute that resolved innumerable disputes between powerful competing interests."⁴ But a hefty legislative accomplishment need not be a

[†] B.A. 2021, The Ohio State University; J.D. Candidate 2025, The University of Chicago Law School. Thanks to Phil Mowery, Rick Nowak, Frances King Quick, Doug Selwyn, Alec Sewall, Mark Thomson, and Charles Wolf for helpful comments and advice.

¹ Pub. L. No. 93-406, 88 Stat. 829, codified as amended at 29 U.S.C. ch. 18 § 1001 et seq.

² Carlton R. Sickles, *Introduction: The Significance and Complexity of ERISA*, 17 WM. & MARY L. REV. 205, 205 (1975).

³ Mertens v. Hewitt Assocs., 508 U.S. 248, 251 (1993).

⁴ *Id.* at 262.

sloppy one, as courts have recognized. ERISA is also a "comprehensive and reticulated statute,"⁵ one designed carefully and with whose enforcement scheme courts are "reluctant to tamper."⁶

A live disagreement over two interacting provisions in ERISA, however, tests this impression. Section 406 proscribes "prohibited transactions"⁷ between a fiduciary and a "party in interest"⁸—including a party "providing services to" an employee benefit plan.⁹ This is sweeping language: § 406 prohibits payments by a plan to any entity providing, for example, essential services like recordkeeping. Section 408, however, can exempt many of these prohibited transactions. Section 408 allows a plan fiduciary to engage in an otherwise prohibited transaction if it is reasonable in compensation and necessary for the plan's operation.¹⁰

Sections 406 and 408 thus comprise one of ERISA's many instances of balancing competing interests—here, interests of a plan fiduciary and a plan participant alleging that a prohibited transaction occurred. The question dividing courts is whether § 406's broad application prohibits seemingly permissible, even "necessary" or "reasonable," transactions conducted at arm's length, like recordkeeping arrangements with third parties, or whether § 406 does not apply as broadly as its text suggests. The Second, Third, Seventh, and Tenth Circuits believe the latter; the Eighth and Ninth Circuits believe the former. The answer, in turn, influences what a plaintiff must plead to plausibly allege that a plan administrator engaged in a prohibited transaction. If § 406 means plainly what it says, a plaintiff need only plead (subject to the modern pleading standard) facts alleging that a plan administrator transacted with a third party. If § 406 does not apply as broadly as its text suggests, however, a plaintiff must plead more—for example, the

⁵ Id. at 251 (quoting Nachman Corp. v. Pension Benefit Guar. Corp., 446 U.S. 359, 361 (1980)).

⁶ Massachusetts Mut. Life Ins. v. Russell, 473 U.S. 134, 147 (1985).

⁷ 29 U.S.C. § 1106.

⁸ Id. § 1106(a)(1)(A).

⁹ *Id.* § 1002(14)(B).

¹⁰ Id. § 1108(b)(2)(A).

elements in § 408: that the transaction provided unreasonable compensation and that it was unnecessary for the plan's operation. Within this divided terrain, the Supreme Court granted certiorari for the Second Circuit's opinion in *Cunningham v. Cornell University*.¹¹ With oral argument scheduled for January 22, 2025, the Court will soon resolve yet another question involving pleading standards under ERISA.

This paper sides with the Eighth and Ninth Circuits and argues that § 406 means what it says: a prohibited transaction involves any party "providing services to" an employee benefit plan and extends as broadly as its plain text permits. This paper proceeds as follows. Part I lays out the relevant statutory provisions and provides some context for fiduciary duties. Part II explains the Second, Third, Seventh, Eighth, Ninth, and Tenth Circuits' holdings. Part III provides several considerations for resolving their disagreement. Specifically, Part III parts ways with the Second Circuit, which held that the § 408 defenses of reasonableness and necessity are elements of a claim that a plaintiff must plead. Building on that point, Part III argues that § 408 contains affirmative defenses that plaintiffs need not anticipate during the pleading stage, as this construction enjoys support from courts construing prohibitory provisions in other statutes, particularly the Age Discrimination in Employment Act of 1967 and the Fair Debt Collection Practices Act, that resemble § 406 and § 408 structurally. Additionally, Part III explains, consistent with the modern pleading standard, what a plaintiff must allege in a complaint to show a prohibited transaction occurred. Finally, Part III collects familiar legal mechanisms that help divide the "plausible sheep from the meritless goats"¹²—that is, plausible complaints under § 406's broad language against meritless claims that could discourage fiduciaries from entering into third-party transactions to administer a plan effectively.

¹¹ 86 F.4th 961 (2d Cir. 2023), cert. granted, No. 23-1007, 2024 WL 4394127 (U.S. Oct. 4, 2024).

¹² Fifth Third Bancorp v. Dudenhoeffer, 573 U.S. 409, 425 (2014).

I. FIDUCIARY DUTIES, PROHIBITED TRANSACTIONS, AND EXEMPTIONS UNDER ERISA

A central component of ERISA's comprehensive scheme is the enforcement of fiduciary duties. One part of the Act's regulatory provisions is entitled "Fiduciary Responsibility,"¹³ which provides plan fiduciaries with a "number of detailed duties and responsibilities."¹⁴ Section 404 lays out fiduciary duties, which have been called the "highest known to the law."¹⁵ Two such duties in § 404 are relevant to this paper. First, § 404(a)(1)(B) imposes a prudence requirement: plan fiduciaries must discharge their duties "with the care, skill, prudence, and diligence under the circumstances then prevailing that a prudent [person] acting in a like capacity and familiar with such matters would use."¹⁶ Second, the duty of loyalty requires plan fiduciaries to "discharge [their] duties with respect to a plan solely in the interest of the participants and beneficiaries."¹⁷

Section 406 supplements these fiduciary duties by specifically prohibiting certain transactions between plan fiduciaries and parties in interest—that is, certain transactions "deemed 'likely to injure the pension plan.'"¹⁸ The statute provides:

A fiduciary with respect to a plan shall not cause the plan to engage in a transaction, if he knows or should know that such transaction constitutes a direct or indirect—

(A) sale or exchange, or leasing, of any property between the plan and a party in interest;

(B) lending of money or other extension of credit between the plan and a party in interest;

(C) furnishing of goods, services, or facilities between the plan and a party in interest;

(D) transfer to, or use by or for the benefit of a party in interest, of any assets of the plan; or

(E) acquisition, on behalf of the plan, of any employer security or employer real property in violation of section 1107(a) of this title.¹⁹

¹³ See 29 U.S.C. §§ 1101–1114.

¹⁴ Mertens, 508 U.S. at 251.

¹⁵ Donovan v. Bierwirth, 680 F.2d 263, 272 n.8 (2d Cir. 1982); see also 29 U.S.C. § 1104(a).

¹⁶ 29 U.S.C. § 1104(a)(1)(B).

¹⁷ *Id.* § 1104(a)(1).

 ¹⁸ Harris Tr. & Sav. Bank v. Salomon Smith Barney, Inc., 530 U.S. 238, 242 (2000) (quoting Commissioner of Internal Revenue v. Keystone Consol. Indus., Inc., 508 U.S. 152, 160 (1993)).
 ¹⁹ 29 U.S.C. § 1106(a)(1) (emphasis added).

Moreover, ERISA defines, in relevant part, a "party in interest" as "a person providing services to such plan."²⁰ With § 406's text and the definition of "party in interest" taken together, § 406's sweep becomes clear—a fiduciary cannot transact with someone providing services to a plan, which include the direct or indirect furnishing of goods, services, or facilities. On its face, § 406 prohibits fiduciaries not only from entering transactions likely to injure a plan (transactions not conducted at arm's length), but also from paying third parties to perform essential services supporting a plan.

Section 408, however, can exempt many of these otherwise prohibited transactions. Specifically, § 408(b)(2) exempts from § 406 contracts and "reasonable arrangements" with a party in interest for "services necessary for the establishment or operation of the plan" if the party in interest also receives "reasonable compensation."²¹ Additionally, the accompanying regulation defines "necessary" with similar breadth as § 408: a service is necessary if it is "appropriate and helpful to the plan obtaining the service in carrying out the purposes for which the plan is established or maintained."²² Thus, § 406 and § 408 are similarly broad—what is prohibited wholesale may be exempted by similar magnitude.

II. THE CIRCUIT DISAGREEMENT

Confronted with a broad prohibition and a similarly broad exemption, courts have reached different conclusions about how these provisions interact. This Part first describes the Eighth and Ninth Circuits' holdings, which have interpreted § 406 to apply broadly. It then describes the Second, Third, Seventh, and Tenth Circuits' holdings, which have restricted § 406's reach.

²⁰ Id. § 1002(14)(B).

²¹ Id. § 1108(b)(2)(A).

²² 29 C.F.R. § 2550.408b-2(b).

A. Expansive Readings of § 406: The Eighth and Ninth Circuits

The Eighth Circuit was the first in this group of courts to embrace an expansive reading of § 406. In *Braden v. Wal-Mart Stores, Inc.*,²³ Jeremy Braden, a Wal-Mart employee, alleged that Wal-Mart executives managing his (and others') pension plans entered into a prohibited transaction under § 406 by having Merrill Lynch & Co., the plans' trustee, hold the plan assets in a mutual trust, in which plan participants could invest, and provide administrative services necessary to the plans' operation.²⁴ Braden alleged that Wal-Mart's selection of the mutual funds failed to consider Merrill Lynch's interest in including funds that shared Wal-Mart's fees with Merrill Lynch.²⁵ Braden alleged that this failure cost the plans \$60 million.²⁶ Additionally, he alleged that Wal-Mart's transactions with Merrill Lynch gave Wal-Mart "undisclosed amounts of revenue sharing payments in exchange for services rendered to the Plan."²⁷ The district court granted Wal-Mart's motion to dismiss, concluding that Braden failed to plausibly allege that Wal-Mart had paid unreasonable fees to Merrill Lynch and thus engaged in a prohibited transaction.²⁸

The Eighth Circuit confronted § 406 with an eye first toward pleading standards. As an initial matter, the Eighth Circuit concluded that § 408's exemptions for reasonableness and necessity are affirmative defenses.²⁹ In so holding, the Eighth Circuit noted that the "burden of proving justification or exemption under a special exception to the prohibitions of a statute generally rests on one who claims its benefits."³⁰ As such, § 406 allocates the burdens of pleading

²⁶ Id.

²³ 588 F.3d 585 (8th Cir. 2009).

²⁴ See id. at 589–90.

²⁵ See id. at 590.

²⁷ *Id.* at 601.

²⁸ See Braden, 588 F.3d at 589.

²⁹ See id. at 601 (stating that the "statutory exemptions established by § 1108 are defenses which must be proven by the defendant").

³⁰ *Id.* at 602 (quoting Federal Trade Comm'n v. Morton Salt Co., 334 U.S. 37, 44–45 (1948)).

and proof, and Braden did not need to show the latter.³¹ Instead, a plaintiff need only plead that the defendant entered into a prohibited transaction. Here, that meant Braden simply had to show and did show—that Merrill Lynch "furnish[ed]" services to Wal-Mart.³² Pleading this much, the court said, aligns with Rule 8 of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure, which requires that a complaint present a "short and plain statement"³³ showing the plaintiff deserves relief.³⁴ And because Braden plausibly alleged that a prohibited transaction occurred, Wal-Mart then had to prove Merrill Lynch's services were reasonable and necessary for the plan under § 408.³⁵

Moreover, the Eighth Circuit concluded that its holding aligns with traditional trust law principles, which, as the Supreme Court has noted, may inform interpretations of ERISA.³⁶ At common law, fiduciaries bore the burden of justifying the type of transaction § 406 prohibits that is, one in which a fiduciary "might be inclined to favor [a party in interest] at the expense of the plan's beneficiaries."³⁷ Drawing from this tradition, the Eighth Circuit concluded that § 406 *always*, for purposes of fairness, places the burden of proof on the party in the presumptively self-dealing transaction.³⁸ Fairness, the court noted, was pertinent in Braden's case, given the information asymmetry plaintiffs often face in the pleading stage.³⁹ So early into litigation, Braden could not yet show that Wal-Mart's transactions with Merrill Lynch were unreasonable or unnecessary because the trust agreement between Wal-Mart and Merrill Lynch required the

³¹ See id. at 601–02.

³² See id. at 601; see also 29 U.S.C. § 1106(a).

³³ FED. R. CIV. P. 8(a)(2).

³⁴ See Braden, 588 F.3d at 596.

³⁵ See id. at 601.

³⁶ See Varity Corp. v. Howe, 516 U.S. 489, 496 (1996).

³⁷ Harris Tr., 530 U.S. at 242; see also Braden, 588 F.3d at 602.

³⁸ See Braden, 588 F.3d at 602; see also Marshall v. Snyder, 572 F.2d 894, 900 (2d Cir. 1978).

³⁹ See Braden, 588 F.3d at 602.

amounts of the payments to be kept secret.⁴⁰ As such, Wal-Mart bore the burden of proof for \S 408's exemptions.

Over a decade later, the Ninth Circuit similarly held that § 406 applies broadly to transactions with parties in interest. In *Bugielski v. AT&T Services, Inc.*,⁴¹ Robert Bugielski, a former AT&T employee, alleged that AT&T entered into prohibited transactions. Fidelity Workplace Services (Fidelity) had served as the plan's recordkeeper since 2005.⁴² In 2012, AT&T amended its contract with Fidelity to allow plan participants to access Fidelity's brokerage account platform, BrokerageLink.⁴³ For a fee, BrokerageLink permitted participants to invest in mutual funds not otherwise available through AT&T's plan.⁴⁴ Fidelity, besides the fees it collected from participants, also received revenue-sharing fees from the mutual funds available through BrokerageLink.⁴⁵ After plan participants invested billions into BrokerageLink's mutual funds, Fidelity made millions in revenue-sharing fees.⁴⁶

Moreover, in 2014, AT&T contracted with Financial Engines Advisors to provide optional investment advisory services to plan participants.⁴⁷ Because Financial Engines Advisors needed access to participants' accounts, AT&T amended its contract with Fidelity to provide Financial Engines Advisors that access.⁴⁸ Financial Engines Advisors and Fidelity entered into a separate agreement in which Fidelity received a significant portion of fees (millions of dollars) that Financial Engines Advisors earned from managing participants' investments.⁴⁹ Because of this

- ⁴³ Id.
- ⁴⁴ *Id.*

⁴⁰ See id.

^{41 76} F.4th 894 (9th Cir. 2023).

⁴² *Id.* at 898.

⁴⁵ *Id.*

 ⁴⁶ Bugielski, 76 F.4th at 898.
 ⁴⁷ Id.

^{⁺′} Id.

⁴⁸ *Id*.

⁴⁹ Id.

string of events, Bugielski alleged that AT&T's amendment of its contract with Fidelity to incorporate BrokerageLink's and Financial Engines Advisors' services constituted a prohibited transaction.⁵⁰

Unlike the Eighth Circuit, which considered pleading standards and common law fiduciary principles, the Ninth Circuit stuck primarily to § 406's text. There was "no dispute" that Fidelity "provid[ed] services to" the plan, as defined in 29 U.S.C. § 1002(14)(B), and was thus a party in interest.⁵¹ Additionally, AT&T's act of amending the contract between it and Fidelity constituted a "furnishing of services" under that phrase's ordinary meaning.⁵² Put together, these facts meant the contract amendment was a prohibited transaction under § 406. To that end, the Ninth Circuit refused to trim § 406's scope, explaining that § 406 creates a "broad per se prohibition of transactions."⁵³ Because Congress provided an exemption in § 408, the Ninth Circuit saw no need to "fashion a judge-made" one by trimming § 406's scope.⁵⁴

The Ninth Circuit confirmed its textualist approach with an advisory opinion by the Department of Labor's Employee Benefits Security Administration (EBSA) explaining why it amended § 408(b)(2)'s implementing regulation. EBSA's explanation contemplates arm's-length transactions as prohibited transactions under § 406 and specifically contemplates a revenue-sharing arrangement like the one at issue in *Bugielski*:

The furnishing of goods, services, or facilities between a plan and a party in interest to the plan generally is prohibited under section 406(a)(1)(C) of ERISA. As a result, a service relationship between a plan and a service provider would constitute a prohibited transaction, because any person

⁵⁰ See id. at 898–99.

⁵¹ *Bugielski*, 76 F.4th at 901.

⁵² See id.; 29 U.S.C. § 1106(a)(1)(C).

 ⁵³ Bugielski, 76 F.4th at 901 (quoting M & R Inv. Co. v. Fitzsimmons, 685 F.2d 283, 287 (9th Cir. 1982)).
 ⁵⁴ See id.

providing services to the plan is defined by ERISA to be a "party in interest" to the plan. However, section 408(b)(2) of ERISA exempts certain arrangements between plans and service providers that otherwise would be prohibited transactions under section 406 of ERISA.⁵⁵

Given this explanation, the Ninth Circuit concluded that § 406 must apply broadly.⁵⁶

Branching out a bit, the Ninth Circuit supported its holding with Supreme Court precedent. The Ninth Circuit distinguished *Bugielski* from *Lockheed Corp. v. Spink.*⁵⁷ *Lockheed* involved an employer who offered increased pension benefits, payable out of the plan's surplus assets, to employees retiring early if they agreed to drop employment-related claims against the employer.⁵⁸ The Supreme Court held that this arrangement was not a prohibited transaction under 406(a)(1)(D), which prohibits a fiduciary from causing a plan to engage in a transaction that constitutes a "transfer to, or use by or for the benefit of a party in interest, of any assets of the plan."⁵⁹ The Court said that the commonality of transactions prohibited under § 406(a) is that they "generally involve uses of plan assets that are potentially harmful to the plan."⁶⁰ However, the Ninth Circuit refused to apply this statement to Bugielski's claim because 406(a)(1)(C) directly encompasses AT&T's prohibited transaction, whereas $\S 406(a)(1)(D)$ did not "in direct terms" address what an employer can ask an employee to do in return for benefits.⁶¹ Additionally, the court distinguished Lockheed by noting that AT&T's amended contract could generate millions of dollars for a party in interest—a windfall that *Lockheed*'s arrangement did not involve because the

⁶⁰ Lockheed, 517 U.S. at 893.

⁵⁵ Reasonable Contract or Arrangement Under Section 408(b)(2)—Fee Disclosure, 77 Fed. Reg. 5632 (Feb. 3, 2012); see Bugielski, 76 F.4th at 901–02.

⁵⁶ See Bugielski, 76 F.4th at 902.

⁵⁷ 517 U.S. 882 (1996).

⁵⁸ *Id.* at 885.

⁵⁹ 29 U.S.C. § 1106(a)(1)(D); see Lockheed, 517 U.S. at 895.

⁶¹ Bugielski, 76 F.4th at 904 (quoting Lockheed, 517 U.S. at 892).

employer was compensating employees.⁶² As for other precedent, the Ninth Circuit rejected the Third and Seventh Circuits' holdings regarding § 406(a)(1)(C) because they did not "follow the statutory text."⁶³ This paper considers those cases, and those with which they align, next.

B. Curbing § 406's Scope: The Second, Third, Seventh, and Tenth Circuits

The Third Circuit was the first of these four circuits to trim § 406's scope to non-arm'slength transactions. In *Sweda v. University of Pennsylvania*,⁶⁴ Jennifer Sweda and other plaintiffs alleged that the University of Pennsylvania entered into prohibited transactions with Vanguard Group (Vanguard) because Vanguard charged recordkeeping fees as a percentage of various options that plan participants could choose.⁶⁵ Like the third parties providing similar services in *Braden* and *Bugielski*, the Third Circuit noted that § 406's plain language, combined with the definition of a party in interest, meant that Vanguard was a party in interest providing services to the University of Pennsylvania's pension plan.⁶⁶

Yet the Third Circuit concluded this could not be right, or else § 406(a)(1)(C) would produce "absurdity."⁶⁷ A broad reading of § 406(a)(1)(C) would prohibit ubiquitous service transactions and expose fiduciaries to liability for "every transaction whereby services are rendered to the plan."⁶⁸ The Third Circuit held that such a result would "miss the balance that Congress struck," noting that ERISA balances numerous disputes between competing interests.⁶⁹ To confirm

⁶² See id. at 905.

⁶³ *Id.* at 906.

⁶⁴ 923 F.3d 320 (3d Cir. 2019), abrogated by Mator v. Wesco Distrib., Inc., 102 F.4th 172 (3d Cir. 2024).

⁶⁵ See id. at 324–25.

⁶⁶ See id. at 335–36.

⁶⁷ *Id.* at 337.

⁶⁸ Id.

⁶⁹ See Sweda, 923 F.3d at 337.

its understanding, the Third Circuit drew on *Lockheed*, the case that the Ninth Circuit distinguished in *Bugielski*. The Third Circuit likened *Lockheed* to Sweda's complaint by arguing that the Supreme Court "similarly avoided absurdity" in § 406(a)(1)(D) by holding that an employer's act of conditioning payment on participants' performance was not a prohibited transaction.⁷⁰

All of this, the Third Circuit concluded, shows that § 406 really prohibits transactions that present "legitimate risks to participants and beneficiaries"⁷¹ to the "advantage of a party-in-interest."⁷² Given the need to stop such advantageous transactions, the Third Circuit trimmed § 406(a)(1)(C)'s application to cases involving an "intent to benefit a party in interest."⁷³ That is what a plaintiff must plead under § 406(a)(1)(C) to avoid an "absurd" reading of that provision.⁷⁴

The Tenth Circuit followed the Third Circuit's lead in *Ramos v. Banner Health*.⁷⁵ A class of plaintiffs alleged that Banner Health entered into a prohibited transaction with Fidelity to receive recordkeeping services for Banner Health's 401(k) plan. The class sued Banner Health because its agreement with Fidelity allowed Fidelity to received uncapped, "excessive" fees from revenue-sharing arrangements.⁷⁶ The Tenth Circuit's analysis was brief, focusing mostly on the effects of reading § 406(a)(1)(C) as broadly as its text might allow. The Tenth Circuit limited § 406(a)(1)(C)'s reach to transactions that contain "some prior relationship ... between the fiduciary and the service provider to make the provider a party in interest."⁷⁷ This is because ERISA, in the Tenth Circuit's view, "cannot be used to put an end to run-of-the-mill service agreements" from which fiduciaries would retreat if § 406(a)(1)(C) were so litigious.⁷⁸ For the

⁷⁰ Id.

⁷¹ *Id.* at 338.

⁷² Id. (quoting Leigh v. Engle, 727 F.2d 113, 127 (7th Cir. 1984)).

⁷³ Id.

⁷⁴ See Sweda, 923 F.3d at 338.

⁷⁵ 1 F.4th 769 (10th Cir. 2021).

⁷⁶ See id. at 774–76.

⁷⁷ Id. at 787.

⁷⁸ Id.

same reasons as the Third Circuit, the Tenth Circuit cited *Lockheed* for permission to read § 406 to avoid "absurd result[s]."⁷⁹

Not too long after *Ramos*, the Seventh Circuit joined the Third and Tenth Circuits in *Albert v. Oshkosh Corp.*⁸⁰ Like the cases already described, Andrew Albert sued Oshkosh Corporation for entering into a prohibited transaction with Fidelity by paying Fidelity excessive fees for plan administration services.⁸¹ The Seventh Circuit, like the Third and Tenth Circuits, declined to read § 406(a)(1)(C) as broadly as its text might permit. Instead, the Seventh Circuit glossed § 406(a)(1)(C) to say that it prohibits only those transactions that "look[] like self-dealing," as opposed to "routine payments for plan services."⁸² The Seventh Circuit concluded that this reading aligns with ERISA's purpose: plan participants' well-being.⁸³ If § 406(a)(1)(C) prohibited "essential" transactions like recordkeeping, plan participants would be harmed.⁸⁴

Notably, the Seventh Circuit focused only on § 406, not the § 408 defenses, because Oshkosh Corporation did not assert a defense under § 408.⁸⁵ Because that provision was not at issue, the Seventh Circuit distinguished *Oshkosh* from the court's earlier precedent that did focus on § 408. Specifically, in *Allen v. GreatBanc Trust Co.*,⁸⁶ the Seventh Circuit had held that § 408 contains affirmative defenses that a plaintiff need not anticipate during the pleading stage.⁸⁷ In *Allen*, the court found that the transactions at issue, which the defendant tried to defend under § 408, were "indisputably prohibited transactions within the meaning of section 406."⁸⁸ Yet

⁷⁹ Id.

^{80 47} F.4th 570 (7th Cir. 2022).

⁸¹ See id. at 573.

⁸² Id. at 585.

⁸³ See id. at 584.

⁸⁴ *Id.* at 585.

⁸⁵ Oshkosh, 47 F.4th at 585–86.

⁸⁶ 835 F.3d 670 (7th Cir. 2016).

⁸⁷ See id. at 676.

⁸⁸ Id. at 675.

because *Oshkosh* did not involve a claim under § 408, but rather how broadly § 406's prohibition should extend, the Seventh Circuit refused to apply *Allen*.⁸⁹ The court also refused to apply *Allen* because the transactions in *Oshkosh* were far more routine.⁹⁰ If *Allen*'s holding about § 408's affirmative defenses could apply to a case involving only § 406, the court in *Oshkosh* reasoned, a plaintiff could plead a prohibited-transaction claim simply by identifying a party in interest and alleging that it engaged in one of the transactions contained in § 406(a)(1).⁹¹ That would produce an "absurd" result.⁹²

In total, the Third, Seventh, and Tenth Circuits, respectively, offer the following restrictions on § 406(a)(1)(C)'s scope: a prohibited transaction occurs if a plaintiff alleges that the fiduciary intended to benefit the party in interest,⁹³ that the transaction looks like self-dealing,⁹⁴ or that the fiduciary and third party have a prior relationship to make the third party a party in interest.⁹⁵ Otherwise, the transaction is not a prohibited transaction.

Finally, and most recently, the Second Circuit trimmed 406(a)(1)(C)'s scope. *Cunningham v. Cornell University* involved an allegation that Cornell University entered into a prohibited transaction with CapFinancial Partners to receive its recordkeeping services and that, among other things, this arrangement resulted in higher fees than necessary.⁹⁶

To answer this allegation, however, the Second Circuit took a different approach by asking whether the § 408 exemptions of reasonableness and necessity are affirmative defenses. Parting with the Seventh and Eighth Circuits, it held that they are not. As such, for a prohibited transaction

⁸⁹ See Oshkosh, 47 F.4th at 585–86.

⁹⁰ See id. at 585.

⁹¹ See id.

⁹² Id.

⁹³ See Sweda, 923 F.3d at 338.

⁹⁴ See Oshkosh, 47 F.4th at 585.

⁹⁵ See Ramos, 1 F.4th at 787.

⁹⁶ See id. at 969, 971.

claim, a plaintiff must plead that the transaction was "unnecessary or involved unreasonable compensation."⁹⁷ In other words, § 408 contains elements of an offense that must be pleaded. The court began by noting that § 406's language explicitly incorporates § 408: it begins with the carveout, "[e]xcept as provided in section 1108 of this title . . ."⁹⁸ The court noted that exemptions usually are understood as defenses that the defendant must raise. ⁹⁹ However, some exemptions are so integral to the offense that a complaint must account for them.¹⁰⁰ For this proposition, the Second Circuit relied on the criminal law context, where an exemption should be understood as an element of the prohibited conduct when one cannot refer to the conduct without referring to the exemption.¹⁰¹ The court applied this presumption to ERISA: § 406's wording encompasses § 408 such that a plaintiff must articulate what § 406 prohibits by referencing § 408. Besides, the court said, if § 406 were read in isolation, it would prohibit many routine transactions—similar to the reasoning that the Third, Seventh, and Tenth Circuits used to curb § 406's scope.¹⁰²

The Second Circuit expanded upon its statutory interpretation by noting that § 406(b), not at issue in *Cunningham*, "on its face is restricted only to transactions carrying indicia of a conflict of interest" and, as such, does not incorporate § 408's language with a statutory carveout.¹⁰³ Given that § 406(a) does contain a statutory carveout referencing § 408, the Second Circuit concluded that this was an intentional difference that raises the pleading standard for § 406(a).¹⁰⁴ Heightening the pleading standard under § 406(a), the Second Circuit noted, does not change the fact that the defendant must ultimately prove that the § 408 exemptions apply.¹⁰⁵ The bottom line, then, is that

⁹⁷ Id. at 968.

^{98 29} U.S.C. § 1106(a); Cunningham, 86 F.4th at 975.

⁹⁹ See Cunningham, 86 F.4th at 975.

¹⁰⁰ See id. at 976.

¹⁰¹ See id.; see also United States v. Cook, 84 U.S. (17 Wall.) 168, 173 (1872).

¹⁰² See Cunningham, 86 F.4th at 977.

¹⁰³ Id.

¹⁰⁴ See id.

¹⁰⁵ See id.

the burden of pleading and the burden of proof do not follow each other in the Second Circuit for a § 406 claim.¹⁰⁶ There, plaintiffs must allege that the fiduciary entered into a prohibited transaction that was either unreasonable in compensation or unnecessary, and defendant fiduciaries retain the ultimate burden of proving the transaction's appropriateness.¹⁰⁷

With the circuits' positions explained, this paper now offers additional considerations for a solution.

III. ANSWERING THE CIRCUIT DISAGREEMENT

A. Defending § 406's Broad Sweep

Courts recognize that ERISA is a complex and "carefully crafted" statute.¹⁰⁸ As such, they have tried to avoid altering its enforcement scheme. This is especially because ERISA resolved "innumerable disputes between powerful competing interests—not all in favor of potential plaintiffs."¹⁰⁹ The Supreme Court in particular has capitalized on this point, declining, for example, to extend remedies not specifically authorized by the text.¹¹⁰ Indeed, interest balancing animates the circuits' disagreement here. ERISA's mechanism for enforcing fiduciary duties is perhaps the most carefully crafted.¹¹¹

¹⁰⁶ See id. at 978 n.10.

¹⁰⁷ See Cunningham, 86 F.4th at 978.

¹⁰⁸ See Bugielski, 76 F.4th at 901.

¹⁰⁹ Mertens, 508 U.S. at 262.

¹¹⁰ See Varity Corp., 516 U.S. at 517 (Thomas, J., dissenting) (collecting cases).

¹¹¹ See id. ("Nowhere is the care with which ERISA was crafted more evident than in the Act's mechanism for the enforcement of fiduciary duties. Part 4 of the Act's regulatory provisions . . . assigns fiduciaries 'a number of detailed duties and responsibilities."" (quoting *Mertens*, 508 U.S. at 251)).

Given the careful craftsmanship of fiduciary duties, the logical place to begin is § 406's text.¹¹² Recall that § 406 states that a fiduciary cannot engage in a transaction if the fiduciary knows or should know that the transaction involves the "furnishing of goods, services, or facilities between the plan and a party in interest."¹¹³ This text reveals two features. First, § 406 creates a broad, per se rule against prohibited transactions.¹¹⁴ Second, nothing in the text limits the prohibition to non-arm's-length transactions.

For those interested, the legislative history supports this understanding because it requires the fiduciary to investigate whether a party-in-interest relationship exists:

The type of investigation that will be needed to satisfy the test of prudence will depend upon the particular facts and circumstances of the case. In the case of a significant transaction, generally for a fiduciary to be prudent he must make a thorough investigation of the other party's relationship to the plan to determine if he is a party-in-interest. In the case of a normal and insubstantial day-to-day transaction, it may be sufficient to check the identity of the other party against a roster of parties-in-interest that is periodically updated.¹¹⁵

This legislative history suggests that a case-by-case investigation is appropriate regarding whether the transacting party is a party in interest, given how "significant" or "insubstantial" the transaction is. However, it does not suggest that whether § 406 is violated must also be a case-by-case inquiry in terms of how "significant" or "insubstantial" the transaction is. As the Senate Report explained,

¹¹² See Harris Tr., 530 U.S. at 254 ("In ERISA cases, '[a]s in any case of statutory construction, our analysis begins with the language of the statute. . . . And where the statutory language provides a clear answer, it ends there as well." (quoting Hughes Aircraft Co. v. Jacobson, 525 U.S. 432, 438 (1999))).

¹¹³ 29 U.S.C. § 1106(a)(1)(C).

¹¹⁴ See Harris Tr., 530 U.S. at 241–42 ("Congress enacted ERISA § 406(a)(1), which supplements the fiduciary's general duty of loyalty to the plan's beneficiaries, § 404(a), by *categorically barring* certain transactions deemed 'likely to injure the pension plan.'" (emphasis added) (quoting *Keystone Consol. Indus.*, 508 U.S. at 160)). ¹¹⁵ H.R. Rep. No. 93-1280, at 5087 (1974) (Conf. Rep.).

certain third-party transactions must be permitted, but the "breadth of proscriptions" will "prohibit transactions which are deemed desirable" to the plan's functioning.¹¹⁶ This suggests that § 406 presumes a transaction is prohibited, even if it seems sensical. In fact, the Senate *removed* a provision from the section outlining fiduciary duties that would have expressly permitted a party in interest to provide "multiple services to a plan, regardless of whether the 'party in interest' was also serving in a fiduciary capacity and receiving fees or compensation for the performance of discretionary functions with respect to plan funds."¹¹⁷ If the legislative history carries any weight, it bends toward prohibiting more transactions, not less.

Courts interpreting ERISA not long after its enactment confirmed that whether § 406 is violated does not depend on the transaction's significance (as the House Report above discussed) or even whether the transaction creates any harm at all. In *Marshall v. Kelly*,¹¹⁸ for example, a corporation's lending of credit, even indirectly, was enough to create a prohibited transaction.¹¹⁹ *McDougall v. Donovan*¹²⁰ offers another example. The court found a prohibited transaction where trustees of a pension fund purchased a jet aircraft from a third party, who had purchased the aircraft from union members who were covered by the trust.¹²¹ In other words, a third party's involvement did not convert the transaction into an arm's-length transaction, and the transaction was prohibited despite the aircraft coming from members that the plan covered. This expansive reading of § 406 continues today. EBSA's explanation for amending § 408(b)(2)'s implementing regulation, which

¹¹⁶ S. Rep. No. 93-127, at 4867 (1974).

¹¹⁷ Id.

¹¹⁸ 465 F. Supp. 341 (W.D. Okla. 1978).

¹¹⁹ See id. at 351 ("The defendant caused the Plan to engage in transactions which he knew or should have known constituted a direct or indirect lending of money or other extension of credit between the Plan and a party in interest in violation of Section 406(a)(1)(B) of ERISA....").

¹²⁰ 552 F. Supp. 1206 (N.D. Ill. 1982).

¹²¹ See id. at 1208.

the Ninth Circuit cited approvingly in *Bugielski*, contemplates arm's-length transactions that 406(a)(1)(C) generally proscribes.¹²²

It makes sense that § 406 should operate broadly. As at least three courts have noted, § 406 "gloss[es]" the duties of loyalty and prudence that ERISA requires of fiduciaries in § 404.¹²³ If § 406 supplements a general, longstanding duty of prudence, then that duty suggests a fiduciary must investigate whether a party-in-interest relationship exists in a transaction. The legislative history says as much, as do a few courts' interpretations of § 404 shortly after ERISA's adoption. In other words, § 406 presumes a third-party transaction is a prohibited one unless fiduciaries satisfy the party-in-interest inquiry or unless § 408 says otherwise.

B. Section 408 Is an Affirmative Defense

Central to the circuit disagreement is the interaction between § 406's proscriptive sweep and § 408's broad exemption from prohibited transactions. To review, the Ninth Circuit's conspicuously textualist approach in *Bugielski* permitted § 406's breadth to stand, though it did not consider whether § 408 contains affirmative defenses due to *Bugielski*'s procedural posture (motion for summary judgment).¹²⁴ The Seventh and Eighth Circuits, conversely, called § 408 an affirmative defense. In its own camp, the Second Circuit held that § 408 contains elements of a claim (specifically, necessity and reasonableness) that must be pleaded. Finally, the Third, Seventh, and Tenth Circuits took their own approaches by trimming § 406 through variations of an intention

¹²² See Bugielski, 76 F.4th at 901–02; Reasonable Contract or Arrangement Under Section 408(b)(2)—Fee Disclosure, 77 Fed. Reg. at 5632; see also Kisor v. Wilkie, 588 U.S. 558, 570 (2019) ("Want to know what a rule means? Ask its author.").

¹²³ Leigh, 727 F.2d at 126; accord Sweda, 923 F.3d at 335 ("Section 1106(a) supplements the fiduciary duties by specifically prohibiting certain transactions between plans and parties in interest."); *Cunningham*, 86 F.4th at 970. ¹²⁴ See Bugielski, 76 F.4th at 897.

test (that is, looking for the fiduciary's intent to benefit a third party, thus making the transaction a prohibited one).

The question, then, is whether § 408 contains an affirmative defense or elements of a claim that must be pleaded. As a matter of civil procedure, plaintiffs need not anticipate affirmative defenses in their complaint¹²⁵—here, the "absence of exemptions" contained in § 408.¹²⁶ But defendants must raise an affirmative defense at the pleading stage if they want to use it.¹²⁷ So, resolving this question shapes not only the pleading stage for an alleged § 406 violation but also helps define how § 406 and § 408 interact.

To begin with, no firm test exists for identifying what constitutes an affirmative defense, at least when "both a statute and its legislative history are silent on the question" of the burden of proof.¹²⁸ Other courts have identified clues indicating that an exemption is an affirmative defense—for example, when the exemption begins with "unless" or "except."¹²⁹

Some courts have simply stated that an exemption is an affirmative defense without much elaboration.¹³⁰ These courts have concluded as such by noting that the defendant bears the burden of proof for an exemption, which suggests that the plaintiff need not anticipate it.¹³¹ Policy considerations also support this. As the Seventh Circuit has stated, "[a] plaintiff is not required to negate an affirmative defense in his or her complaint . . . for the painfully obvious reason that the

¹²⁵ See Braden, 588 F.3d at 601 n.10.

¹²⁶ Allen, 835 F.3d at 676.

¹²⁷ See 5B CHARLES ALAN WRIGHT & ARTHUR R. MILLER, FEDERAL PRACTICE AND PROCEDURE § 1357 (3d ed. 2004); FED. R. CIV. P. 8(c).

¹²⁸ Alaska Dep't of Env't Conservation v. EPA, 540 U.S. 461, 494 n.17 (2004).

¹²⁹ See United States v. Franchi-Forlando, 838 F.2d 585, 591 (1st Cir. 1988).

¹³⁰ See, e.g., Braden, 588 F.3d at 601 n.10 (alluding to § 408 as an affirmative defense by stating that "a plaintiff need not plead facts responsive to an affirmative defense before it is raised"); Harris v. Amgen, Inc., 788 F.3d 916, 943 (9th Cir. 2015) ("[T]he existence of an exemption under § 1108(e) is an affirmative defense."), *rev'd sub nom.*, 577 U.S. 308 (2016); *Allen*, 835 F.3d at 676 ("We now hold squarely that the section 408 exemptions are affirmative defenses for pleading purposes.").

¹³¹ See Allen, 835 F.3d at 676; Braden, 588 F.3d at 601.

defendant will not have pleaded any affirmative defenses until it files its answer or a motion to dismiss."¹³² Requiring otherwise would "remind" the defendant of affirmative defenses available,¹³³ which frustrates the liberal complaint regime.

In keeping with the absence of a single test, the Supreme Court has elsewhere employed a circumstantial approach to determine what constitutes an affirmative defense. In *Meacham v. Knolls Atomic Power Laboratory*,¹³⁴ the Court held that exemption from liability for a disparateimpact claim under the Age Discrimination in Employment Act of 1967 (ADEA)¹³⁵ regarding "reasonable factors other than age"¹³⁶ is an affirmative defense. The Supreme Court found it as "no surprise" that the exemption is an affirmative defense.¹³⁷ The Court noted that it has long operated on the principle that when a "proviso . . . carves an exception out of the body of a statute or contract, those who set up such exception must prove it."¹³⁸ Courts should apply this convention unless they have "compelling reasons to think that Congress meant to put the burden of persuasion on the other side."¹³⁹

To confirm this framework, the Court noted that the ADEA's exemptions explicitly reference what is "otherwise prohibited"¹⁴⁰ in the statute's section on prohibited conduct.¹⁴¹ The Court noted that when it tried to read the same language—"otherwise prohibited"—in the neighboring provision of § 623(f)(2) under the ADEA (which also expressly references prohibited conduct) as elements of an offense, rather than as an affirmative defense, Congress overrode its

¹³² Stuart v. Local 727, Int'l Bhd. of Teamsters, 771 F.3d 1014, 1018 (7th Cir. 2014).

¹³³ Id.

¹³⁴ 554 U.S. 84 (2008).

¹³⁵ 29 U.S.C. §§ 621–634.

¹³⁶ *Id.* § 623(f)(1).

¹³⁷ *Meacham*, 554 U.S. at 91.

¹³⁸ Id. (quoting Javierre v. Central Altagracia, 217 U.S. 502, 508 (1910)).

¹³⁹ Id.

¹⁴⁰ 29 U.S.C. § 623(f)(1).

¹⁴¹ See Meacham, 554 U.S. at 91.

interpretation and reinstated that defenses for "otherwise prohibited" conduct are affirmative defenses under the ADEA.¹⁴²

The Court also rejected the notion that an exemption set apart from the prohibited activity is an "elaboration on an element of liability"¹⁴³ that a plaintiff must plead. In a typical ADEA complaint where a plaintiff alleges an adverse employment practice on a factor other than age, that practice is at the very center for liability in the first place, not a "negation of it or a defense to it."¹⁴⁴ Under the modern pleading standard, where a court takes all the facts as true in a complaint,¹⁴⁵ a court "assume[s]" that an ADEA complaint involves a factor other than age that harmed the plaintiff.¹⁴⁶ Because of this, the defendant must claim the exemption—that the employment practice was reasonable.¹⁴⁷ Requiring a plaintiff to plead the reasonableness exemption would eliminate much of the point of pleading. On this point, the Court asked, why make the plaintiff develop a case for reasonableness when doing so is "good enough to avoid liability?"¹⁴⁸

The Court recognized that requiring more of defendants could corner them for their business practices, but it concluded that Congress should address that concern.¹⁴⁹ The Court offered some reassurance: the more "plainly reasonable" the employer's practice is, the less it

¹⁴² See id. at 94; Public Emps. Ret. Sys. of Ohio v. Betts, 492 U.S. 158 (1989), superseded by statute, Older Workers Benefit Protection Act, Pub. L. No. 101-433, 104 Stat. 978.

¹⁴³ *Meacham*, 554 U.S. at 95.

¹⁴⁴ *Id.* at 96.

¹⁴⁵ See Ashcroft v. Iqbal, 556 U.S. 662, 678 (2009) ("To survive a motion to dismiss, a complaint must contain sufficient factual matter, accepted as true, to 'state a claim to relief that is plausible on its face." (quoting Bell Atl. Corp. v. Twombly, 550 U.S. 544, 570 (2007))).

¹⁴⁶ *Meacham*, 554 U.S. at 96.

¹⁴⁷ Id.

¹⁴⁸ Id. at 99.

¹⁴⁹ See id. at 101.

should have to persuade the factfinder.¹⁵⁰ But where the practice's reasonableness is more "obscure," the employer will have more work.¹⁵¹

Meacham helps illuminate the prohibited-transactions battle under ERISA for three reasons. First, the ADEA's structure is similar to ERISA. That is, the ADEA prohibits age discrimination in employment, "with exemptions laid out apart from the prohibitions (and expressly referring to the prohibited conduct as such)."¹⁵² This is just like § 408 in ERISA, which is set apart from § 406 with explicit reference to that section. Second, no material difference exists between what the ADEA's exculpatory section references ("otherwise prohibited" activity) and what ERISA's exculpatory language in § 408 references. Section 408(b) is entitled, "Enumeration of transactions exempted from section 1106 prohibitions."¹⁵³ Appealing to a section heading for statutory interpretation is appropriate, as the Supreme Court has confirmed.¹⁵⁴ Such reliance on headings enjoys more support where, as here, the heading was enacted with the statutory text rather than being added during codification.¹⁵⁵ As such, the § 408 exemption expressly references § 406 just as the ADEA exemption expressly references the section on prohibited conduct. Third, avoiding unnecessary pleading under the ADEA applies similarly to prohibited-transaction complaints. Just as it would be "substantially redundant" for an ADEA plaintiff to plead an alternative, reasonable employment practice, ¹⁵⁶ so too would it be redundant for an ERISA plaintiff to plead an alternative method for a third-party transaction that would be reasonable and necessary.

 $^{^{150}}$ Id.

¹⁵¹ Meacham, 554 U.S. at 101.

¹⁵² *Id.* at 91.

¹⁵³ 29 U.S.C. § 1108(b).

¹⁵⁴ See Dubin v. United States, 599 U.S. 110, 120–21 (2023) ("[T]he title of a statute and the heading of a section' are 'tools available for the resolution of a doubt' about the meaning of a statute." (quoting Almendarez-Torres v. United States, 523 U.S. 224, 234 (1998))).

¹⁵⁵ See Cunningham, 86 F.4th at 976 n.8.

¹⁵⁶ Meacham, 554 U.S. at 99.

In light of these considerations, consider again the Second Circuit's opinion in *Cunningham*. The Second Circuit focused on the carveout language in § 406: "[e]xcept as provided in section 1108 of this title"¹⁵⁷ This emphasis is misplaced with *Meacham* in mind. In *Meacham*, the Court focused on the language of the *exemption*, not the language of the provision detailing the prohibited activity. As part of its justification for emphasizing the carveout, the Second Circuit appealed to the criminal law context. When a criminal law defines an offense but contains an exception, the pleadings must allege conduct that the exemption does not cover.¹⁵⁸ However, the criminal law context, where due process concerns and the risk of liberty deprivation are heightened, is not directly translatable to the civil context, where those concerns are generally lower. Moreover, it is unconvincing to use criminal law concerns about due process to avoid requiring fiduciaries to defend their business decisions.¹⁵⁹

Additionally, the Third Circuit has rejected the idea that carveout language in a statute's prohibitory provision (that references the statute's exemptions) turns the exemptions into elements of the offense to be pleaded. In *Evankavitch v. Green Tree Servicing, LLC*,¹⁶⁰ the Third Circuit considered an exculpatory provision in the Fair Debt Collection Practices Act (FDCPA).¹⁶¹ Under the FDCPA, a debt collector is liable to a consumer for contacting third parties in pursuit of that consumer's debt unless the communication falls under a statutory exemption.¹⁶² Specifically,

¹⁵⁷ 29 U.S.C. § 1106(a); *Cunningham*, 86 F.4th at 975.

¹⁵⁸ See Cunningham, 86 F.4th at 976.

¹⁵⁹ *But see id.* (likening ERISA to criminal statutes requiring plaintiffs to plead exempted conduct, because not requiring ERISA plaintiffs to do the same would make § 406 "encompass a vast array of routine transactions the prohibition of which cannot be consistent with that statutory purpose"). The Second Circuit thus invoked concerns of absurdity, like the Third, Seventh, and Tenth Circuits, to curb § 406's application. But as this paper shows, this reading goes against the plain meaning of § 406's text as considered from several angles. ¹⁶⁰ 793 F.3d 355 (3d Cir. 2015).

¹⁶¹ 15 U.S.C. §§ 1692–1692p.

¹⁶² See id. § 1692c(b). These exceptions to communication with third parties include prior consent by a consumer, the express permission of a court of competent jurisdiction, and communications reasonably necessary for a debt collector to effectuate a post-judgment judicial remedy. *Id.*

§ 1692c(b) states that "[e]xcept as provided in section 1692b ... a debt collector may not communicate[] in connection with the collection of any debt" with third parties.¹⁶³

Under the Supreme Court's guidance that no strict test exists to delegate the burden of proof in an ambiguous statute, the Third Circuit employed a five-factor test. First, it looked for statutory exceptions and whether the offense they exempt can be referenced without the exceptions. In the FDCPA, "no reference to the Act's exceptions is necessary to discern that calls to third parties" to collect a consumer's debt are prohibited.¹⁶⁴

Second, the Third Circuit looked at the statutory structure to clarify where the burden of proof should fall. Under the FDCPA, the exceptions to communication with third parties in § 1692b are set apart from the general prohibition in § 1692c(b).¹⁶⁵ Placing the exception and the general prohibition in different parts of the statute "has been recognized by the Supreme Court as indicative of an affirmative defense," to which the Court cited *Meacham*.¹⁶⁶

Third, categorizing an exception as an affirmative defense helps "avoid unfair surprise and undue prejudice" toward the plaintiff.¹⁶⁷ The Third Circuit said this means asking whether a defendant's failure to raise the exemption would "deprive[] [a plaintiff] of an opportunity to rebut that defense or to alter her litigation strategy accordingly."¹⁶⁸ If a debt collector defends its allegedly prohibited call under the exemption, plaintiffs would alter their litigation strategy compared to if the defendant did not invoke the exemption. Avoiding unfair surprise, the court suggested, means the plaintiff should not have to anticipate the defense during the pleadings.¹⁶⁹

¹⁶⁷ Id. at 364.

¹⁶³ Id.

¹⁶⁴ *Evankavitch*, 793 F.3d at 362.

¹⁶⁵ See id. at 363.

¹⁶⁶ Id.

¹⁶⁸ Id. (quoting In re Sterten, 546 F.3d 278, 285 (3d Cir. 2008)).

¹⁶⁹ See Evankavitch, 793 F.3d at 365.

Fourth, the party with better access to relevant information generally bears the burden of proof.¹⁷⁰ Of course, a plaintiff must adequately plead a violation, but the plaintiff need not plead more facts, including those implicating the exemption, that lie "peculiarly" with the defendant.¹⁷¹ In *Evankavitch*, the defendant was the only party with "any realistic ability" to produce exculpatory evidence, and even then the defendant failed to produce sufficient evidence at trial showing that the exemption should apply.¹⁷² If the defendant struggles to produce exculpatory evidence, then the plaintiff will struggle more.¹⁷³

Finally, the Third Circuit considered whether Congress's concerns about plaintiffs in creating a statute support putting the burden of proof on the defendant. If making the plaintiff carry the burden would frustrate the statute's remedial purpose, as the Third Circuit found it would regarding the FDCPA, then the defendant bears the burden of proof.¹⁷⁴

Applying *Evankavitch*'s five-factor test to ERISA suggests that § 408 is an affirmative defense. First, § 406(a) contains express language creating a carveout, just like the FDCPA: "[e]xcept as provided in section 1108 of this title"¹⁷⁵ And as in the FDCPA, where parties can reasonably know what is prohibited without referencing the exemption, so too can ERISA parties reasonably know what § 406 prohibits without referencing § 408. That is, parties know that a fiduciary should not enter into a transaction that furnishes goods or services between the plan and a party in interest without an applicable exemption.¹⁷⁶

Notice, also, that this reasoning works against the Second Circuit's opinion in *Cunningham*, which focused on the carveout language in § 406. Although the prohibitory language in § 406

¹⁷⁰ See id.

¹⁷¹ Id.

¹⁷² See id. at 366.

¹⁷³ See id.

¹⁷⁴ See Evankavitch, 793 F.3d at 367.

¹⁷⁵ 29 U.S.C. § 1106(a).

¹⁷⁶ See id. § 1106(a)(1)(C).

references the exemption in § 408, that does not mean the exemption *must* be referenced to discern what § 406 generally prohibits, as the Second Circuit reasoned. If this were the case, any general prohibition in a remedial statute that references an exception could turn the exception into an element of the defense that a plaintiff must plead. Construing generally prohibitory statutes this way would frustrate their remedial goals. And, as noted, the same concerns that attend badly written laws in the criminal context do not rise to the same level with how § 406, a civil statute, is written. In fact, the Third Circuit in *Evankavitch* considered, but rejected, transporting similar concerns about criminal laws into the FDCPA (also a civil statute).¹⁷⁷

Regarding the second prong of the Third Circuit's five-point test, the statutory structure of § 406 and § 408 mirrors § 1692c(b) in the FDCPA: exemptions are set apart from the general prohibition. The same structure appears in the ADEA as well.

Third, construing § 408 as an affirmative defense avoids worries about "unfair surprise[s]" for the plaintiff. If fiduciaries defended their transactions with a party in interest based on reasonableness and necessity, plaintiffs would likely need to explore the fiduciary's knowledge and intent. In that case, plaintiffs would need to change their litigation strategy to prove that a fiduciary was not entering into the transaction for reasonable compensation or for necessary reasons.

Under factor four, fiduciaries have easier access to relevant information that helps determine whether a transaction with a party in interest was reasonable and necessary. This is similar to the Third Circuit's conclusion in *Evankavitch* that debt collectors have better access to information for whether their contacts with third parties can be exempted. The reasonable assumptions courts draw in favor of plaintiffs during the pleading stage support this. In *Allen*, the

¹⁷⁷ See Evankavitch, 793 F.3d at 362–63.

Seventh Circuit characterized § 408 as an affirmative defenses because "exemptions from prohibited transactions . . . assume that a transaction in the prohibited group occurred, and they add additional facts showing why that particular one is acceptable."¹⁷⁸

Relatedly, under the Third Circuit's fifth factor, ERISA's carefully crafted structure and remedial nature support reading § 408 as an affirmative defense. ERISA's regulation of prohibited transactions is evident through § 406's broad sweep, which guards against the "misuse and mismanagement of plan assets."¹⁷⁹

All told, § 408 of ERISA can be fairly characterized as an affirmative defense. Plaintiffs need not anticipate it during the pleading stage.

C. Squaring § 408 As an Affirmative Defense with the Modern Pleading Standard

Since *Twombly*¹⁸⁰ and *Iqbal*,¹⁸¹ the pleading standard has been a plausibility standard. That is, a complaint must "allow[] the court to draw the reasonable inference that the defendant is liable for the misconduct alleged."¹⁸² The pleading standard is not a probability requirement, and a complaint can survive "even if it strikes a savvy judge that actual proof of [the facts alleged] is improbable, and 'that a recovery is very remote and unlikely."¹⁸³ Additionally, on a motion to dismiss, courts draw inferences in favor of the nonmoving party (the plaintiff), which *Twombly*

¹⁷⁸ Allen, 835 F.3d at 676.

¹⁷⁹ *Russell*, 473 U.S. at 140 n.8.

¹⁸⁰ Bell Atl. Corp. v. Twombly, 550 U.S. 544 (2007).

¹⁸¹ Ashcroft v. Iqbal, 556 U.S. 662 (2009).

¹⁸² *Id.* at 678.

¹⁸³ Twombly, 550 U.S. at 556 (quoting Scheuer v. Rhodes, 416 U.S. 232, 236 (1974)).

and *Iqbal* did not change.¹⁸⁴ Where an "obvious alternative explanation"¹⁸⁵ for the defendant's actions exists, plaintiffs may have to plead additional facts to rule out the alternative.¹⁸⁶

Moreover, the facts alleged must give the defendant "fair notice of what the ... claim is and the grounds upon which it rests."¹⁸⁷ As applied to ERISA, a complaint alleging that a defendant transacted with a party in interest, even if that transaction is exemptible under § 408, lets the defendant know what the accusation is. Such facts would be sufficient to shift the burden of persuasion to the defendant to show that "no more than reasonable compensation [was] paid" for the third party's services.¹⁸⁸ Importantly, giving the defendant fair notice about an accusation does not require a plaintiff to plead "[s]pecific facts"¹⁸⁹ explaining how the fiduciary's conduct was unlawful. Because courts draw reasonable inferences from a complaint in favor of plaintiffs, plaintiffs need only plead facts "indirectly showing unlawful behavior."¹⁹⁰

On the other side of the pleading standard, defendant fiduciaries must do more than show that their transactions are consistent with legal conduct. A fiduciary could have many reasons to choose funds with higher fees or generally to transact with a third party. Most obviously, those reasons may well involve reasonableness and necessity to qualify under § 408's safe harbor. In many cases, the fiduciary's reasons for engaging in an alleged prohibited transaction will likely not present an "obvious alternative explanation" that requires more facts to be pleaded. What makes a transaction with a third party reasonable and necessary will vary by context.

The modern pleading standard does not burden plaintiffs with ruling out all possible reasons—including reasonableness and necessity—for a fiduciary's third-party transactions.

¹⁸⁴ See Braden, 588 F.3d at 595.

¹⁸⁵ *Twombly*, 550 U.S. at 567.

¹⁸⁶ *Braden*, 588 F.3d at 597.

¹⁸⁷ Twombly, 550 U.S. at 555 (quoting Conley v. Gibson, 355 U.S. 41, 47 (1957)).

¹⁸⁸ 29 U.S.C. § 1108(b)(2)(A).

¹⁸⁹ Erickson v. Pardus, 551 U.S. 89, 93 (2007) (per curiam).

¹⁹⁰ *Braden*, 588 F.3d at 595.

Requiring otherwise not only contravenes the convention to construe a complaint in a plaintiff's favor: it constructs a "probability requirement" that *Twombly* and *Iqbal* rejected.¹⁹¹ If plaintiffs had to account for reasonableness and necessity (as elements of a cause of action) in their complaints, they would need to allege facts that "tend systematically to be in the sole possession of defendants."¹⁹² Section 406 does not require plaintiffs to explain fiduciary's presumptively unlawful actions; § 408 obliges fiduciaries with that task. Principles of trust law also inform this understanding.¹⁹³ Section 406 proscribes transactions where a fiduciary "might be inclined to favor [a party in interest] at the expense of the plan's beneficiaries."¹⁹⁴ Trust law obliges fiduciaries to justify such self-dealing transactions.¹⁹⁵

Yet some may worry about "nudg[ing] plaintiffs with marginal cases into court" under this position.¹⁹⁶ Where a plaintiff can allege a third-party transaction, defendants will have to defend every service-provider transaction, the concern goes. However, courts have rejected this concern as a reason to curb ERISA's remedial nature. In *Braden*, the Eighth Circuit hardly opined on this issue because it found the burdens of proof and persuasion so clearly marked out between § 406 and § 408.¹⁹⁷ In *Meacham*, the Supreme Court noted that putting the burden of persuasion on defendants will sometimes affect their business strategies.¹⁹⁸ Nevertheless, the Court concluded that those concerns must go to Congress when the provision is decisively an affirmative defense.¹⁹⁹

¹⁹¹ Twombly, 550 U.S. at 556; Iqbal, 556 U.S. at 678.

¹⁹² Braden, 588 F.3d at 598.

¹⁹³ See Varity Corp., 516 U.S. at 497 ("[T]he law of trusts often will inform, but will not necessarily determine the outcome of, an effort to interpret ERISA's fiduciary duties.").

¹⁹⁴ *Harris Tr.*, 530 U.S. at 242.

¹⁹⁵ See Fulton Nat'l Bank v. Tate, 363 F.2d 562, 571 (5th Cir. 1966) ("[T]he beneficiary need only show that the fiduciary allowed himself to be placed in a position where his personal interest might conflict with the interest of the beneficiary ... [so] the law presumes that the fiduciary acted disloyally.").

¹⁹⁶ Meacham, 554 U.S. at 101.

¹⁹⁷ See Braden, 588 F.3d at 601–02.

¹⁹⁸ See Meacham, 554 U.S. at 101.

¹⁹⁹ See id. at 101–02.

In fact, the Court in *Meacham* defended its holding by noting that Congress responded to the Court by making a provision in the ADEA an affirmative defense after the Court held otherwise.²⁰⁰ The corollary, as applied to ERISA, is that if § 408 contains an affirmative defense, Congress may step in and say that it does not. It may, for example, declare, as the Second Circuit did, that § 408 contains elements of an offense that must be pleaded. But as the case law stands, § 408 is most naturally read as an affirmative defense along the same lines of reasoning used in *Meacham* and the Third Circuit's decision in *Evankavitch*.

More specifically, within the ERISA context, the Supreme Court has refused to curb ERISA's remedial provisions based on concerns about frivolous litigation. In *Fifth Third Bancorp v. Dudenhoeffer*,²⁰¹ the Court dismissed such concerns when it held that ESOP (employee stock ownership plan) fiduciaries have the same duty of prudence as non-ESOP fiduciaries under § 404.²⁰² Fifth Third worried that if it were not entitled to a "presumption of prudence," the threat of lawsuits would deter it, and other companies, from offering ESOPs to their employees.²⁰³ But the Court unanimously dismissed this concern. It acknowledged that ERISA carefully balances plaintiffs' and defendants' interests.²⁰⁴ Moreover, the Court held as such despite recognizing that fiduciaries are often stuck "between a rock and a hard place" when making investment decisions (for example, making such decisions in a volatile stock market).²⁰⁵ But concerns about frivolous lawsuits by themselves are not a valid factor to curb remedial statutes. Instead, weeding out meritless claims is better accomplished through "careful, context-sensitive scrutiny of a complaint's allegations."²⁰⁶

²⁰⁰ See id. at 93–95; supra note 142.

²⁰¹ 573 U.S. 409 (2014).

²⁰² See id. at 412.

²⁰³ See id. at 423.
²⁰⁴ See id. at 424.

 $^{^{205}}$ *See 1a.* a 205 *Id.*

²⁰⁰⁵ Id.

²⁰⁶ *Dudenhoeffer*, 573 U.S. at 425.

Indeed, several effective tools exist to weed out meritless claims. For one, the pleading standard for a motion to dismiss must be context specific because a complaint involving the duties of loyalty and prudence, which underlie § 406, depend on "the circumstances then prevailing" when the fiduciary acts.²⁰⁷ District courts can also order the plaintiff to reply to the defendant's or third party's answer to the complaint.²⁰⁸ Moreover, a district court can grant the defendant's motion for a more definite statement if a plaintiff presents "vague or ambiguous" allegations.²⁰⁹ Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 11 imposes sanctions for fraudulent claims.²¹⁰ And summary judgment is the greatest guard against trial.

Finally, not all plaintiffs have an incentive to sue a fiduciary. As long as a plaintiff knows that § 408 exists, the plaintiff would have to believe that § 408 does not exempt the transaction. The plaintiff would also have to identify some harm the transaction caused, which would already likely be difficult in the pre-discovery phase. If a plan operates effectively and gives plaintiffs no reason to suspect something is afoul, then a plaintiff likely will not, and likely could not, sue.

CONCLUSION

This paper has explored a live disagreement regarding what a plaintiff should have to plead for a prohibited-transaction claim under § 406 of ERISA. The Eighth and Ninth Circuits have held that a plaintiff need only allege that such a transaction occurred, while the Second Circuit held that § 408's exemptions of reasonableness and necessity constitute elements of a claim that must be pleaded. Still others—the Third, Seventh, and Tenth Circuits—have devised variations of an intent

²⁰⁷ 29 U.S.C. § 1104(a)(1)(B).

²⁰⁸ See FED. R. CIV. P. 7(a).

²⁰⁹ *Id.* 12(e).

²¹⁰ *Id.* 11(c)(1).

test to curb § 406's broad scope. However, this paper argues that § 408's exemptions constitute an affirmative defense that a plaintiff does not have to anticipate during the pleading stage. At bottom, ERISA is a "remedial statute to be liberally construed in favor of employee benefit fund participants."²¹¹ This paper's position is consistent with that long-held understanding.

²¹¹ Kross v. Western Elec. Co., 701 F.2d 1238, 1242 (7th Cir. 1983).